
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Performance and 
Administration Cabinet 

Committee 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough 
Council are summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, 
Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU on Monday, 21 November 2022 at 7.30 pm when the 
business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A  
 

Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies   

2. To sign the minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 8) 

3. To declare any interest Members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda. When declaring an interest Members should state what their 
interest is.  

 

4. To considered whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those (if any) in Part B in public.  

 

5. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2022-23  (Pages 9 - 20) 

6. Annual Review of Information Governance Shared Service  (Pages 21 - 28) 

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 



8. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
 

 

 Part B  
 

Items likely to be considered in Private 

 

 
None.  
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair) 
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Harold Craske 

Dakota Dibben 
Sarah Gow 
Gary Harding 
Leslie Hills 
Samir Jassal 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Gurbax Singh 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified  

 
 
 



1 

Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 
 

Wednesday, 21 September 2022 7.30 pm 
 
 

Present: 
 
Cllr Narinderjit Singh Thandi (Chair) 
Cllr Brian Francis (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: 

 
Harold Craske 
Dakota Dibben 
Sarah Gow 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Gary Harding 
Leslie Hills 
Samir Jassal 
 
 

Pat Knight  Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) 
James Larkin Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service 
Jackie Denton Customer Services Manager (Minutes) 
  

37. Apologies  
 
An apology for absence was received from Cllr Gurbax Singh. 

38. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 8 June 2022 were signed by the Chair. 

39. Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

40. Corporate Register of Partnership - July 2022  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service presented Members of the 
Performance and Administration Committee with an update of the council’s involvement in 
partnerships that are within the remit of the committee. The paper is for information only 
purposes.  
 
No questions were presented. 
 

41. Corporate Performance Update: Quarter One 2022-23  
 
The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) and the Head of Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service presented Members of the Performance and Administration 
Committee with an update against the Performance Management Framework, as introduced 
within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter One 2022-23 (April to June 2022). 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 21.09.2022 

2 

Any outturns where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
appropriate reporting cycle. 
 
The Service Manager (Revenues & Benefits) highlighted the following: 
 
PI 23 – Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days)  
In Q1 the average is 22.4 days compared to 16.4 days in Q4. Performance is not as high, 
our target is 20 days historically, so we are above that. In the month of August, we managed 
to process claims in 19.6 days so that shows we are starting to move towards expected 
performance. 
 
Our performance for the previous year compared to national figures was, for all new claims, 
one day better than the national average and also one day better than the Kent average so 
that puts it into context. 
 
As explained at the last committee, the move to Universal Credit for new claims means that 
councils only receive the more complex cases which are supported or temporary 
accommodation and pension age claimants. The mean average is affected by more complex 
cases. We had a meeting with the DWP performance team who advised that despite our 
concerns they deemed our performance as Good in comparison to other local authorities. 
That being said, we are looking to improve this and get it back to the average processing 
days that we had in the past year or so. We have recruited to all vacant posts now. We do 
have one member of staff shortly going on to maternity leave, but we do have support from 
an external agency which we have had for a number of years now. We have greatly reduced 
the amount of outstanding work and in the past month we had reduced it by a quarter, so we 
are starting to make in-roads. Benefits is a complex area, and it takes 6-12 months for a 
person to be fully trained, that being said, new staff are already having a positive impact on 
the workload and also performance but where we are clearing workloads it will affect the 
mean average.  
 
PI 24 – Average processing time for changes of circumstances in Housing Benefits 
claims (days) 
This is 11.5 days compared to the previous year outturn of 4.4 days. Our target has been 5 
days so again that is much higher than we would have liked for the same reasons given for 
new claims. Q4 figures where national average was 3 days and Gravesham, and Kent 
average was also 3 days so we were on a par with the national average. One thing that has 
impacted greatly on my service is the requirement to make payments in a number of areas, 
one of those was energy payments and so to update committee: 
 
We have paid out £5,234,550 to 34,897 households in Gravesham. We had to obtain bank 
details to be able to make payments in accordance with government guidance and we 
managed to do that for 92.5%, for the remaining 7.5% we have this week credited their 
council tax account with the sum of £150. We have informed them of this in writing and 
issued a revised council tax bill and have advised should they require a refund they will need 
to supply bank details which they have not supplied before.  
 
We have also looked at making payments under the Household Support Fund and the 
council was awarded £257,124 to make payments to pension age households. We managed 
to do that using the low-income family tracker (LIFT) and we identified 749 pension age 
households who are currently in receipt of council tax reduction and also meet fuel poverty 
triggers. That means those households will have received at the end of this week £343.29 
each.  

Page 4



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 21.09.2022 

3 

 
We have also taken additional work on top of our priority work and had to make payments to 
local businesses by way of credits to accounts in respect of additional relief fund. We were 
awarded £1.763m and have managed to credit all of that money against different accounts 
where appropriate, however, £80k has been returned by businesses because they have 
exceeded the subsidy allowance threshold.  
 
We are coming to the end now of a number of these payments we need to make and that 
will free up additional resources to concentrate on clearing the backlog that we have. 
 
Council tax collection is 0.9% down, however, this is in the main due to two things, we have 
had very little court dates presented to us. We have had 3 courts to date and would normally 
have had 5 or 6 by now. Also, there is a trend for people to apply to pay over 12 instalments 
instead of the standard 10 instalments. Compared to where we were last year with where we 
are now, there has been an increase of 59% of households looking to pay over 12 months. 
0.9% is about £600k but over time we will still collect and keep up with the collection that we 
have had in the past. 
 
Business rates collection is 16.9% up. At this time last year there was a change to retail 
discount relief reducing from 100% relief to 66% and so we had a massive liability to collect 
at that time and we have since managed to do that. 
 
PI 26 – Corporate Complaints 
The number of complaints has increased from 36 in Q4 to 46 in Q1. This is off set against 97 
compliments received in Q1 compared to 80 in Q4. 
 
Revenues & Benefits received 10 complaints which tended to be about the energy payments 
requiring clarification and guidance and also because expectations had been raised by 
Central Government that payments would be made in April and there was no way we could 
get payments out that quickly. Complaints were also regarding the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme and attempts to recover previous years’ arrears of council tax bearing in mind we 
had restricted recovery action during the pandemic. 
 
PI 50 – Total number of people signed up to Citizens Access 
That has continued to increase with 13,695 people signed up by the end of Q1 and we are 
currently at 14,320. That has had a boost by people completing their application for the 
energy payment online and a number of people taking the opportunity to sign up to Citizens 
Access. 
 
Following questions from Members of the Committee, the Service Manager (Revenues & 
Benefits) responded as follows: 
 

 We received additional funding to cover the cost of energy payments, payments to 
businesses etc. and at the end of the process there is a review that we can submit to 
reconcile any costs so it should be fully funded 

 
 

 Regarding PI 23 Time to Process Claims, whilst cases are more complex and can 
take more time we want to make decisions as quickly as possible, however, there 
have been occasions where evidence has not been presented to us despite attempts 
to obtain it and what we will do is make a payment on account and if something is 
brought to our attention i.e. S21 Notice of eviction, we make sure that goes as a 

Page 5



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 21.09.2022 

4 

payment on account. For Council Tax Reduction we put a hold on the account so we 
do not take any recovery action avoiding putting additional pressure on the resident 
in the meantime. 
 

 Complex cases have always been there but they have in the past been masked by a 
higher proportion of simpler cases thereby reducing the mean average. 
 

 Members agreed that all staff should be congratulated on the enormity of the task. 
Some of the figures are not what we might like but taking into account what we have 
had to do the team have done a fantastic job 
 

 Energy poverty is calculated on 3 different things (1) household income (2) 
household fuel requirements for a similar household (3) fuel prices. We are using low 
income family tracker datasets and are trying to get other datasets to identify 
vulnerable households who live in a property with a poor energy rating (Energy 
Performance Certificate). 

 

 A member asked the Chair, as a result of additional pressures on the team and to 
deal with backlog additional staff were taken on, would it be reviewed? In response 
the Chair advised how that will be dealt with once the service has completed the 
additional tasks in response to the pandemic. We still have backlog of items and so 
we will look at staffing levels once that is cleared. 
 

 Direct Debits have increased, and it is now 68.6% which greatly assists us in 
collection. A number of people did sign up to get their energy payment quicker and it 
is fair to say that some cancelled it before they got their payment. Consequently, as 
council tax payment had not been honoured they did not receive the payment in the 
initial set of payments (for direct debit payers). The majority have maintained their 
Direct Debit and that is positive and the number of people who have signed up to 
have their bills electronically and electronic accounts has also increased 

 
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service highlighted the following: 
 
PI 49 – % of posts in shared service arrangements 
This is an annual indicator. The council is intending to commence a further service review 
process to identify opportunities to reduce net service expenditure in the way we deliver our 
services and a team of officers have been appointed on a programme of continuous 
improvement reviews and this will be reported to Cabinet in due course. 
 
PI 55 - % of internal audit recommendations implemented 
 
A total of 31 recommendations/actions were due to be implemented by the end of June, 22 
of which have been implemented giving an out-turn of 61.9%. Of the nine outstanding seven 
have now been implemented and performance at present is 77%.  
 
We have offered an apprenticeship post to a candidate who should be taking up post in a 
couple of weeks. 
 
Counter Fraud update – Cashable savings have increased to £100k since 30 June 2022. 
Gravesham’s share of costs for the Counter Fraud Team are approx. £81k for the year so 
represents good value for money. 

Page 6



Performance and Administration Cabinet Committee 21.09.2022 

5 

PI 56 - % of information requests completed within statutory deadline 
89% of Freedom of Information requests received a response within the statutory deadline of 
20 days. 
 
Following questions from Members of the Committee, the Head of Internal Audit & Counter 
Fraud Shared Service responded as follows: 
 

 They are significant savings and the £100k is made up of historical so people 
receiving discounts they weren’t entitled to and we also include an additional charge 
for the following year. We also have notable savings if we recover property due to 
sub-letting 

 
The Committee noted the Corporate Performance Report: Q1 2022-23. 
 

42. Annual Review of the internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service  
 
The Head of Internal Audit & Counter Fraud Shared Service provided Members of the 
Performance and Administration Committee with a copy of the annual review that has been 
conducted in respect of the Internal Audit & Counter Fraud shared service with Medway 
Council. The report is for information only. 
 
In terms of justification to continue the partnership arrangement, the budgeted share for 
Gravesham is around £214k. Were we to have continued with the original in-house internal 
Audit and Fraud Teams that we had before the shared service, costs would be approx. 
£303k for the current year and so we currently save £89k. 
 
Three actions were identified for service improvement for the coming year relating to quality 
control process, 90% compliance with PSIAS and increasing awareness of counter fraud 
services across both councils. 
 
No questions were presented. 
 
The Committee noted the Internal Audit and Counter Fraud Shared Service Annual Review 
Report.  
 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 20:10pm.  
 
 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Classification: Public 

Key Decision: No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Performance & Administration Committee 

Date: 21 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Pat Knight – Service Manager (Revenues and Benefits)  
 

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2022-23 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To present Members of the Performance and Administration Committee with an update 
against the Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s 
Corporate Plan, for Quarter Two 2022-23 (July to September 2022). 
 

Recommendations: 

1. This report is for information purposes only.  

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s 
policy framework as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will 
ensure the council has in place an effective framework to deliver 
its responsibilities and ensure better results for vulnerable local 
residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 
 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of 
the Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based 
and which therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going 
financial planning processes. 
 

Corporate Plan The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition 
and objectives for the authority over the 2019-23 period. This 
report provides the Committee with a quarterly assessment of how 
the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
Performance Management Framework. 
 

Climate Change Climate change as a strategic theme underpins the projects, 
initiatives and work involved in the delivery of the council's 
Corporate Plan. As a core policy commitment of the council, 
efforts in this area are represented within corporate objective #1: 
People. 
 

 

Page 9 Agenda Item 5



2 

1. Introduction 

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its Corporate Plan for 2019-23. The 
plan sets out the authority’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four-year period.   

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high-quality services, a 
sound performance management process is required to be implemented.  

1.3 Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to Members and residents.  

2. Performance management: process 

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions.  

2.2 Appendix 1 to this report provides the Performance and Administration Committee 
with an overview of the council’s performance against the Corporate Plan for 
Quarter Two 2022-23, covering the period July to September 2022.  

2.3 Statistical performance over the period is presented separately in tabular and 
graphical form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate 
either to those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data 
has not been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns 
where data has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next 
appropriate reporting cycle.  

2.4 Alongside statistical content, the Appendix provides supporting detailed qualitative 
updates outlining what activity the council has delivered, and what is to be taken, 
to successfully realise the Corporate Plan’s objectives and policy commitments 
relating to the portfolio for the 2019-23 period.    

2.5 This report is for information purposes only. 
 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

Appendix 1: Performance and Administration Portfolio – Q2 2022-23 
 

4. Background papers 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23.  

 Gravesham Borough Council: PMF 2019-23. 

 
Lead Officer:  

 
Pat Knight – Service Manager (Revenues and Benefits) 

Email:  pat.knight@gravesham.gov.uk 

Page 10

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporateplan
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/performance


3 

 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment Implementation of a PMF allows the council to evidence how successful it is in 
achieving against its stated objectives and provides residents accountability in how 
it is administering its resources. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

No. 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

Click here to start typing 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

Click here to start typing 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No. 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1: People. 

Digital and website 
implications 

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital implications 
are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  'PI 51: online self-
help forms'. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1: People and #2: Place.  

 

Page 11

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P E R F O R M A N C E  &  A D M I N
P O R T F O L I O

Performance   report 
Q  2  :  2  0  2  2  -  2  3

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 13



P I  23

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 12.6 12.7 12.2 12.8

2020-21 15.9 13.8 12.8 12.4

2021-22 14.1 14.2 14.6 16.4

2022-23 22.4 20.8

P I  24 Average processing time for changes of circumstance in Housing Benefit claims (days)

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.2 4.9 4.8 4.0

2020-21 3.6 3.3 3.4 2.9

2021-22 6.8 5.7 5.3 4.4

2022-23 11.5 11.5

The quarter remains above the expected level of 20 days although there is now an improving trend. This 
improvement is due to the appointment of staff to vacant established posts within the service. 

However, it should be recognised that the performance measure is a mean average of the number of days 
to assess a claim. If the average is 20.8 days, it is not necessarily just because of administrative delay by 
the service it includes the time for the claimant to provide any necessary evidence in support of the claim. 

Historically, there were high levels of simpler claims which could be assessed more promptly as they 
required less evidence thereby reducing the 'mean' average. The move to Universal Credit for new claims 
means that councils only receive the more complex cases which are supported or temporary 
accommodation and pension age claimants.

* PI 23 Average Processing time for housing benefit claims. This is 20.8 days and is an improvement on 
Q1 which was 22.4 days.  The month of September showed performance at 18.4 days with further 
improvement in October at 16.5 days . The latest available national data (Q1 – received 28 October) 
reported that the general trend over the past 18 months has been an upward one with nationally an 
average of 23 days and Kent districts averaging 22.0 days.

* PI 24 Average processing time to assess changes of circumstances for housing benefit claims. This is 
11.5 days which is identical to Q1 performance.  The month of September showed performance at 6.7 
days with further improvement in October at 5.1 days . The latest available national data (Q1) reported 
that the general trend over the past 18 months has been an upward one with nationally an average of 7 
days and Kent districts averaging 7 days.

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.
P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

 1. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services 
accessible to all. 

Average processing time taken for Housing Benefit claims (days)

10

15

20

25

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

0

4

8

12

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 14



P I   26 Total number of reported corporate complaints

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 73 82 44 56

2020-21 40 59 54 71

2021-22 86 84 43 36

2022-23 46 55

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean and 

attractive borough their home.
P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Put our customers first: implement a suite of quality and effective frontline services
accessible to all.

During Q2 there were 55 complaints compared to 46 received in the previous quarter. 

Of those 55, 48 were recorded as Stage 1 complaints, of which 46 (95.8%) met the 10 day deadline to 
respond. There were 7 Stage 2 complaints, of which 5 (71.4%) met the 20 day deadline to respond and 1 
has been extended for further investigation.

25

50

75

100

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 15



P I  50 Total number of people signed up to citizens access

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 103 1,519 2,757 4,484

2020-21 5,453 6,328 7,211 8,594

2021-22 9,840 10,722 11,479 12,592

2022-23 13,695 14,601

#3 PROGRESS
an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 

improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

0

4,000

8,000

12,000

16,000

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 16



P I  49 % of posts involved in shared service arrangements

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 5.9%

2020-21 5.8%

2021-22 5.4%

2022-23

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T #3 PROGRESS

In response to the significant financial pressures the Council is now facing coupled with the changes in 
working practises brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, a Corporate Improvement Project was 
established. 

The aim of this project is to consider how the Council allocates resources in an efficient and effective 
manner to ensure that it continues to deliver services in the best way for its communities. 

It is anticipated that all service areas will be reviewed during a 2-3 year period and that these reviews will 
deliver net expenditure savings of £700,000 over the next 5 years. Annual indicator

1. Deliver a more resilient, creative and cost-effective council: implement a programme of 
‘continuous change’, overhauling business processes and delivering new, innovative service 
design.

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

0%

5%

10%

15%

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

P
age 17



P I  55 % of internal audit recommendations implemented

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 70.6% 75.0% 73.1% 76.2%

2020-21 62.5% 67.7% 62.5% 73.5%

2021-22 37.5% 63.6% 63.6% 69.8%

2022-23 61.9% 91.4%

Counter Fraud update - James Larkin 

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 
2. Drive service improvement and corporate governance: a robust and benchmarked 
performance management framework, delivered by services underpinned with sound internal 
controls. 

Internal Audit update - James Larkin 

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

Internal Audit 
Quarter 2 has seen the last of the remaining 2021-22 audit reviews delayed by staffing vacancies in year, 
all finalised.

As of 30 September, 26% of the plan had been delivered (audit fieldwork completed), with a further 21% 
underway. The percentages are based on the number of reviews expected to be undertaken during 2022-
23 with the resource projected at the start of the year. There will be a change to these figures once the 
amended resources have been applied and the plan for Q3-Q4 approved.

An Internal Auditor left the team with effect from 31 May and a new apprentice has been offered a post but 
a start date is yet to be confirmed.

The Internal Audit team also has a performance indicator relating to the implementation of agreed 
recommendations/actions. At the end of quarter one, it was reported that eight recommendations 
remained outstanding. Of those, the following recommendations/actions have now been implemented;

* A secondment agreement being put in place for the new Monitoring Officer,
* A review of the constitution to ensure consistent reference to Member training,
* Review of shared service agreements to ensure KPI’s remain realistic,
* Arrangements made to review the procedure notes/guidance for the administration of leaseholder 
service charges,
* A strategy documenting the aims and objectives of the councils apprenticeship scheme,
* Review of the arrangements in place to respond to requests to view the accounts which can be made 
available for the inspection of leaseholders,

A cumulative total of 35 recommendations/actions were due to be implemented by the end of Q2 and as 
of 30 September 2022, three of these remained outstanding. 
Outstanding recommendations/actions relate to:

* Review the arrangements in place to raise interim service charges, with an appropriate policy explaining 
how interim charges are calculated,
* The Leaseholder handbook should be updated and made available to Leaseholders.
* Investigations to be undertaken and arrangements agreed for the council’s other websites 
(www.visitgravesend.co.uk and www.gravesendboroughmarket.co.uk) to be made compliant with the 
Accessibility Regulations, including publishing of appropriate accessibility statements.

Progress made towards implementing outstanding recommendations is monitored on a quarterly basis, 
through reports to the council’s Management Team. Details of all recommendations/actions agreed, 
implemented and outstanding are provided to the council’s Finance & Audit Committee as part of the 
quarterly and annual Internal Audit update reports. All recommendations that remain outstanding more 
than six months after their agreed implementation date are now specifically highlighted with updates from 
the relevant services provided.

#3 PROGRESS

Counter Fraud
The focus on fraud awareness activity has continued with awareness session delivered to Housing Options, 
Housing (Landlord Services) and Customer Services during the quarter. Introductory sessions are being 
planned with a number of other services. 

Investigation activity during the quarter to date has led to the following;
* Additional council tax (historic liability) of £59,704.
* Additional council tax liability of £40,706 for future years.
* Civil penalties totalling £70.00

One person has received a caution for failing to report a change in circumstances.

25%

50%

75%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 18



P I  56 % of information requests completed within statutory deadline

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20 86% 86% 86% 84%

2020-21 83% 88% 84% 85%

2021-22 85% 80% 88% 86%

2022-23 89% 97%

Governance: In discharging its statutory corporate governance duties, as identified through the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015, on 19 July 2022 Members of the Finance & Audit Committee were presented 
with a draft Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 2021-22.

In approving the adoption of the AGS, Members concluded that there were no significant control issues 
identified for the period. The Committee also endorsed the following opportunities and areas of business 
to further develop and strengthen the council’s governance framework in 2022-23:
• Constitution;
• Corporate Plan 2023-27 - Consultation;
• Financial Pressures Review;
• Statement of Accounts; and
• Rosherville Limited - Governance Framework.

The Annual Governance Statement is available via the council’s website: 
www.gravesham.gov.uk/corporategovernance

The council regularly reviews policies to ensure they remain relevant. An example of this was the recent 
review of the Contract Procedure Rules and Procurement Thresholds which took place during the first half 
of the year. This saw a removal of legislation pertaining to the EU and raising of procurement thresholds to 
appropriate levels for decision making.

Key business and strategic risks are held in Operational Risk Registers at service level and the Corporate 
Risk Register. These risks are reviewed on a six monthly basis. The main review of the Corporate Risk 
Register is carried out during December each year which is considered by Management Team, Finance 
and Audit Committee and Cabinet. This is then approved by Full Council in February. To compliment this 
exercise a quarterly Risk Management Working Group was established to ensure that service managers 
were made of emerging risks that could affect service delivery and to ensure Management Team are 
made aware of the risk landscape of the council.

an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and committed to continuous service 
improvement, underpinned by a skilled workforce and strong governance environment.

3. Successfully manage key business risks: embed a culture of compliance with all policy, 
constitutional and legislative demands.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T #3 PROGRESS

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

Classification:  Public 

Key Decision:  No 

Gravesham Borough Council 

Report to: Draft report to Performance & Administration Committee 

Date: 21 November 2022 

Reporting officer: Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services) 

Subject: Annual Review of Information Governance Shared Service 

Purpose and summary of report:  

To provide Members of the Performance & Administration Committee with a copy of the 
annual review that has been conducted in respect of the Information Governance Shared 
Service with Medway Council. 
 

Recommendations: 

1. None - this paper is for information purposes only 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Legal The shared service arrangement was established with due regard 
to the following legislation: 

1) Section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972, which allows a 
local authority to place any of its officers, who consent to the 
arrangement, at the disposal of another local authority on such 
terms as may be agreed between the parties, and 

2) Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 and the 
Local Authority (Arrangement for the Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2012, which enables a local authority to 
delegate certain functions to another local authority.   
 

Finance and Value for 
Money 

The budgeted cost of the service is currently incorporated into a 
single charge for both Legal and Information Governance 
services; for 2021/22 the budget costs to Gravesham of the Legal 
and Information Governance Shared Service was £450,510, with 
actual costs being £429,850.  

The annual review document sets out the intention to set in place 
arrangements to improve the ability to assess value for money of 
the service going forwards. 

 

Page 21 Agenda Item 6



 

2 

Key Implications: 

Item Implications 

Corporate Plan The delivery of a shared service contributes to objective number 
three: 

Progress - an entrepreneurial authority; commercial in outlook and 
committed to continuous service improvement, underpinned by a 
skilled workforce and strong governance environment 

Climate Change  There are no specific climate change implications resulting from 
this report. 

 
1. Introduction 

1.1 Since April 2018, the council has had in place a shared service with Medway 
Council for the delivery of the Information Governance services function. This 
involved the transfer of all Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) staff who were 
employed within Information Governance team at GBC to Medway Council. 

1.2 As per the council’s Working in Partnership Framework (which was adopted by 
Council on 22 June 2021), the annual review of the Information Governance 
arrangement was undertaken in September/October 2022 and reported to the 
Gravesham Borough Council Management Team accordingly. 

 

2. Annual Review 

2.1 The revised Working in Partnership Framework introduced a new review 
document for Shared Services that have been operational for three years or more, 
to ensure that focus is on current working practices and procedures rather than 
looking back at objectives that were set during the arrangements inception. 

2.2 The review of the Information Governance Shared Service is attached at appendix 
two for Member perusal. 

 

3. Appendices 

3.1 The following documents are to be published with the report:  

- Appendix two - Annual Review of the Information Governance Shared Service 

 

4. Background Documents  

4.1 There are no background documents. 

 

Lead Officer:   Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate Services) 

Email:    sarah.parfitt@gravesham.gov.uk 

  

Page 22



 

3 

Secondary Implications  

Risk Assessment The risks associated with this arrangement are considered to be ‘low’ at this time. 
The annual review and the annual performance reports has shown that the service 
is meeting and in some cases, exceeding its objectives. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment 

 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process.  

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data?  

A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links. 

N/A 

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice? 

N/A 

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk. 

N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer. 

No 

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above 

Crime and Disorder There are no specific crime and disorder implications resulting from this report. 

Digital and website 
implications 

There are no digital or website implications resulting from this report. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults 

There are no safeguarding children and vulnerable adults implications resulting 
from this report 

 

Page 23

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



                     

 

Shared Service:    Information Governance 

 

Shared service commenced: April 2018 

 

Author:     Sarah Parfitt, Director (Corporate 

      Services) at Gravesham Borough 

      Council and Bhupinder Gill,  

      Assistant Director, Legal and  

      Governance at Medway Council 

 

Review Date:    October 2022 

 

Overview of the shared service arrangement: 

The Legal shared service including Information Governance was established in April 2017, 
with arrangements amended in July 2018 to respond to the implementation of the General 
Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and enable both authorities to benefit from all 
resources within the Information Governance (IG) Team (6FTE).  

The Shared Service Agreement sets the basis for splitting the available resources 
between the two councils as approximately 59% for Medway and 41% for Gravesham. 

The team structure of the service is formed of the Information Governance Manager, 
Senior Information Governance officer, three Information Governance Officers and an 
Information Governance Apprentice. The budgeted cost of the service is currently 
incorporated into a single charge for both Legal and Information Governance services; for 
2021/22 the budget costs to Gravesham of the Legal and Information Governance Shared 
Service was £450,510, with actual costs being £429,850. 

In the last nine months the service has experienced significant staff turnover, with 
resignations at the Information Governance Manager, Senior Information Governance 
officer and Information Governance Officer levels. Consequently, the service has had to 
make use of temporary staff to fulfil the needs of each authority. The Information 
Governance Manager role was successfully recruited to and the new postholder assumed 
the role in September 2022. The team structure is currently completed with one 
permanent Information Governance Officer and the remaining posts being filled on a 
temporary basis, subject to the outcomes of a planned review of the shared service by 
both councils. 

Page 25



 

2 | P a g e  

Progress against objectives: 

 Objective Update 

1 Efficiency savings. 
Realising actual financial 
savings across the two 
sites but maintaining 
delivery of the service. 

Prior to the shared service arrangement, Gravesham 
employed a single FTE resource in the form of a 
Freedom of Information (FOI) Officer. This was 
expanded to one FTE supported by a part time FOI 
Officer when the two councils agreed to share 
management of their Information Governance 
resources as a precursor to the full shared service. 

It was, however, recognised by both council’s that even 
if a shared service was not progressed, additional 
officers would be required by each to ensure adequate 
resourcing of information governance activity, 
particularly given the imminent introduction of the 
General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) at that 
time. The shared service was therefore set in place to 
respond to that expanded need across Gravesham and 
Medway. 

If the shared service were not in place each local 
authority would have to resource the role of Data 
Protection Officer and employ their own IG resources. 

2 Added resilience across 
the two authorities. There 
will be a larger pool of 
officers covering both 
authorities providing 
additional resilience to 
cover sickness 
absence/vacancies or 
increased workload should 
this be required 

The recruitment and retention challenges over the last 
year has supported the objective of providing resilience 
across the two authorities, with a required level of 
service being maintained, as set out in the Annual 
Information Governance Report considered by the 
Performance & Administration Cabinet Committee in 
June 2022. 

 

3 Availability of specialist 
skills across both 
authorities leading to 
increased efficiency; 
potential for a reduced 
requirement for external 
support from contractors 
etc. 

This had been a focus for the shared service during the 
last two years, with officers within the team obtaining 
GDPR practitioner certificates and receiving FOI 
training. Given the turnover of staff the new Information 
Governance Manager, along with the Director 
(Corporate Services) and Assistant Director, Legal and 
Governance will be reviewing team resourcing, 
including the identification of any training and 
development needs to maintain the necessary skills 
within the team. 

4 Sharing of best practice in 
the delivery of services 

The ability of the IG Team to work across the two 
councils provides a strong basis from which to identify 
and develop best practice and share this between the 
two partner organisations. 

Page 26



 

3 | P a g e  

5 Expansion of knowledge 
base of individual officers 

See point three above. 

 

Key Performance Measures: 

  Target 2020/21 Outturn 2020-21 

1 Following the review of the shared service conducted in 2021, a suite of KPIs was 
developed and agreed in January 2022 for implementation from 1 April 2022, 
including measures around cost of service and allocation and use of resource. 
These will be refined during 2022 and incorporated into annual service reporting and 
the next shared service review. 

 

Update against recommendations identified in previous year 

review: 

 Objective Update 

1 Action taken to enhance arrangements 
to demonstrate the equitable allocation 
of resources between the partner 
councils. This will enable each partner to 
determine the use of resources available 
to them, effectively manage and monitor 
performance and to be able to 
demonstrate Value for Money (VfM) 
against these work programmes. 

 

The Director (Corporate Services) and 
Assistant Director, Legal and 
Governance have committed to 
reviewing the shared service agreement 
for Legal Services and Information 
Governance, with a view to setting in 
place separate agreements (including 
KPI and charging) for each service. This 
will enable greater transparency which, 
in turn, will assist each partner in 
effectively managing and monitoring 
performance of the service and 
demonstrate Value for Money (VfM). 

 

2 Develop a suite of KPIs to demonstrate 
achievement of expected performance 
standards and VFM of the Shared 
Service in future years. 

A suite of KPIs was developed and 
agreed in January 2022 for 
implementation from 1 April 2022, 
including measures around cost of 
service and allocation and use of 
resource. These will be refined during 
2022 and incorporated into regular 
monthly management reporting for the 
service. Availability of resource has 
impinged on the ability to progress this 
recommendation as quickly as both 
councils would have liked. 

 

Page 27



 

4 | P a g e  

Recommendations/Service Improvements for the coming year: 

1 A review of Information Governance arrangements at each council is to be 
conducted to determine targeted areas of activity for the Shared Service in the 
forthcoming period. This review to be used to reset the objectives of the Shared 
Service moving forwards. 

2 Following the completion of action one, a full review is to be completed of Shared 
Service resourcing to ensure this remains fit for purpose and is sufficiently skilled to 
be able to respond to the needs of each authority. 

3 Development of a shared service agreement specifically for Information 
Governance, which will stipulate expected service levels for each council alongside 
agreed mechanisms and measures for managing service performance, 
demonstrating value for money and ensuring the equitable allocation of costs 
between each council. 

 

Page 28


	Agenda
	2 To sign the minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Two 2022-23
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q2 2022-23 (Appendix 1)
	Q2 2022-23
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q2 2022-23.pdf
	Q2 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2022-23 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q1 2022-23.pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (APPENDIX 1).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (DRAFT).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2021-22 (FINAL).pdf
	Q3 2021-22





	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q1 2022-23 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q1 2022-23.pdf
	Q1 2022-23
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (Appendix 1).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Performance & Admin Portfolio - Q4 2021-22 (DRAFT).pdf
	Q4 2021-22
	Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2021-22 (FINAL).pdf
	Q3 2021-22








	6 Annual Review of Information Governance Shared Service
	2. Apendix two - Annual review of IG Shared Service - Sept 2022




